Despain v. BNSF H

© 00 N o g b~ W N P

N N DD NN NNNDNRRRRERR R B RB R
W N O O N W NP O © 0N O 0 M W N P O

ailway Company Doc.

\We
IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF ARIZONA
Gary Despain, No. CV-15-08294-PCT-NVW

Plaintiff, ORDER
V.

BNSF Railway Company,

Defendant.

In 2010, Gary Despain fitea complaint witithe Secretary of Labor against hi
employer, BNSF Railway Company (“BNSF RadlyV), alleging retaliation in violation
of the Federal Railroad Safefct. Five years later, th®ecretary still had not reached
final decision. Despain then broughtistraction pursuant to the Act's “kick-out’
provision, which authorizes an “original awii’ in federal districtcourt for “de novo
review” in cases where the Setary has not reachedfinal decision within 210 days. 4¢
U.S.C. § 20109(d)(3). BNSF Railway comtis Despain’s action is untimely under th
federal “catch-all” four-year statute of limtions. 28 U.S.C. § 1658(a). Whether tf
catch-all limitations period applies to ethFederal Railroad Safety Act's kick-oU
provision appears to be a qties of first impression, thouga few courts have addresse
whether the limitations period applies to a veiyilar statute. BNSF Railway’s Motior

to Dismiss (Doc. 9) on thaground will be denied fathe reasons that follow.
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A motion to dismiss under Fedhl Rule of Civil Procede 12(b)(6) tests the lega

sufficiency of the comlpint. The motion may be based on “the lack of a cognizable legal

theory” or “the absence dfufficient facts alleged under a cognizable legal theory.

”

Balistreri v. Pacifica Police Dep/t901 F.2d 696, 699 (9th Cir. 1990). A complaint negd

include “only enough facts to state a cldion relief that is plausible on its face Bell
Atlantic Corp. v. Twomb|\550 U.S. 544, 570 (2007).

All allegations of material fact are assuimi® be true andamstrued in the light
most favorable to the non-moving partousins v. Lockyeb68 F.3d 1063, 1067 (9th
Cir. 2009). However, thatloes not apply to legal cdosions or conclusory factua
allegations. Ashcroft v. Igbal 556 U.S. 662, 678 (2009). tlie running of the statute of
limitations is apparent on the face of thengdaint, dismissais appropriate. Huynh v.
Chase Manhattan Bank65 F.3d 992, 997 (9th Cir. 2006).

l. RELEVANT STATUTES
A. Federal Railroad Safety Act
Congress enacted the Federaili@ad Safety Act in 1970Pub. L. No. 91-458, 84

Stat. 971. The Act’s selfatlared purpose was “to promaiafety in all areas of railroag

operations and to reduce railroad-related accidents” and injuides§ 101, 84 Stat. at

971. After enactment, Congress noted thdtoad workers who complained about safety

conditions often suffered retaliatiorSeeConsol. Rail Corp. v. United Transp. Unjon
947 F. Supp. 168, 171 (E.D. .P#®96). Thus, in 1980,dhgress added an anti-retaliation
provision, prohibiting railroad carriers fromsdriminating againggmployees who report
safety violations owho refuse to work under hazardotsnditions. Federal Railroad
Safety Authorization Act ofl980, Pub. L. N0.96-423, § 10, 94 &t. 1811, 1815.
Retaliation claims were to be resolved in adamce with arbitratioprocedures set forth
in the Railway Labor Act.ld.; seeNorfolk S. Ry. Co. v. SoJi815 F. Supp. 2d 32, 36-37
(D.D.C. 2013).
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In 2007, Congress amended the antiliaian provision to include additional

categories of protected conductSee Implementing Recommendations of the 9/1

Commission Act, Pub. L. No. 0353, § 1521, 121 Stat. 26644—-46. Thus, for example
now a railroad carrier may ndtscriminate against an engylee who notifies the carriet
of a work-related injury.49 U.S.C. 8 20109(a)(4).

The 2007 amendments alestablished a new enforcement process, with multiple

levels of administrative review and antiop to switch over to judicial reviewSeePub.

L. No. 110-53, § 1521, 121 &t at 446-47. The process is set forth in 49 U.S.

8§ 20109(d) under the heading “Enforcemedtion.” Under subsection (d)(1), a

employee alleging retaliation must first fdecomplaint with th&ecretary of Labor:

(d) Enforcement action—

(1) In general.—An employee who alleges discharge,
discipline, or other discrimini@n in violation of subsection
(@), (b) or (c) of this sectionmay seek reliein accordance
with the provisions of this sgon, with any petition or other
request for relief under this g@m to be initiated by filing a
complaint with the Secretary of Labor.

49 U.S.C. 8§ 20109(d)(1). Subsection (d)i&orporates the administrative procedur
governing whistleblowing airline employeet U.S.C. § 42121(b), and states a 180-d

statute of limitations for filing the complaint:

(2) Procedure.—

(A) In general—Any action under paragraph (1) shall be
governed under the rules andeedures set forth in section
42121(b), including:

(i) Statute of limitations.—An action under paragraph (1)
shall be commenced not later thBB0 days after the date on
which the alleged violation of bgection (a), (b) or (c) of this
section occurs.

ay
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49 U.S.C. § 20109(d)(2).

Under this procedure, the Secretary mosestigate and determine whether the
Is “reasonable cause to believe” that thepkyee’'s complaint haserit. 49 U.S.C.
§ 42121(b)(2)(A). If reasonablcause exists, the Secrgtanust issue a “preliminary
order” awarding the employee reliefid. Either party may obgt to the preliminary
order. Id. If there is no objection, the aer becomes *“final”; otherwise, ar
Administrative Law Judge (“ALJ”) must condua de novo hearg on the record.See
id.; 29 C.F.R. §1982.107(b).The ALJ's decision becomes the Secretary’s “fing
decision unless a party petitions for, and olstaneview by the Administrative Review
Board. 29 C.F.R. 88 1982.109(e), 1982.1)0(In that event, the Board’s decision
“final.” 29 C.F.R. § 1982.110(c).

However, if the agency does not reacliral decision within210 days of the
filing of the complaint and the delay is rihie to the employee’s bad faith, the employ,
then has an option to bring dariginal action” for “de novo review” in federal district

court with respect to the complaime filed with the Secretary:

(3) De novo review—With respect toa complaint under
paragraph (1), if the Secretary lodibor has not issued a final
decision within 210 days afténe filing of the complaint and

if the delay is not due to thead faith of the employee, the
employee may bring an originaltem at law or equity for de
novo review in the appropretdistrict court of the United
States, which shall have jadiction over such an action
without regard to the amounh controversy, and which
action shall, at the request of either party to such action, be
tried by the court with a jury.

49 U.S.C. 8§ 20109(d)(3). Thmption is known as the Act’s “kick-out” provisiorSee,

e.g, Lee v. Norfolk S. Ry. Ga802 F.3d 626, 636 (4th Ci2015). Once an employes
exercises this option by filing idistrict court, the Secraty loses jurisdiction of the
controversy. SeeStone v. Duke Energy Corpt32 F.3d 320, 322-23 (4th Cir. 2009
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(interpreting analogous provisian the Sarbanes-Oxley Act)lf the agency reaches 4§
final decision before such removal, the emplyan then appeal te federal court of
appeals for limited review under the standastithe Administrave Procedures Act:

(4) Appeals—Any person adversely affestt or aggrieved by

an order issued psuant to the pmedures in section

42121(b), may obtain review ofdlorder in the United States

court of appeals for the circum which the violation, with

respect to which the order wasued, allegedly occurred or

the circuit in which tk complainant residedn the date of

such violation. The petition faeview must be filed not later

than 60 days after the date of the issuance of the final order of

the Secretary of Labor. The rew shall conform to chapter

7 of title 5. The commencemenf proceedings under this

paragraph shall not, unless ordetsdthe court, operate as a
stay of the order.

49 U.S.C. § 20109(d)(4).
The 2007 amendments “enhance[] mawistrative and civil remedies fof
employees.” H.R.Rep. No. 110-259 at 348 (900Ih particular, the kick-out provision

1113

creates a “‘safety valve’ to emsuthat claims brought within the Department of Labor 3
processed within a reasonable timé&bnero v. Union Pac. R. GdNo. CIV. 2:09-2009

WBS JFM, 2009 WL 33787, at *6 (E.D. Cal. Oct. 190P9). If the agncy delays too
long, the employee may opt outagency proceedings and tréardo district court. Like

the ALJ, the district court reviews the preliminary order de novofaenew evidence,
determines facts (or charges ayjwith that task), and reachesnclusions of law. The
final ruling, whether made by the agency ordistrict court, is reviewable only in the
federal court of appeals.

B. Federal Catch-All Statute of Limitations, 28 U.S.C. § 1658
Before 1990 there was no uniform statute of litiotas for federal statutory

causes of action. This void “spagdh a vast amount of litigation.”Jones v. R.R.
Donnelley & Sons Cp541 U.S. 369, 377 (2004). Thkettled practice was to adopt
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local time limitation as federal law, which égerated a host of issues that requir
resolution on a statute-by-statute basisl.’at 377—78.

Congress responded to this problem1®90 by enacting 28).S.C. § 1658,
entitled “Time limitations on ta commencement of civil actions arising under Acts
Congress.” SeeJudicial Improvements Act of 199@ub. L. No. 101-650, 8§ 313, 104
Stat. 5089, 5114-15The statute establishes a default four-year limitations period

federal statutory claims:

(a) Except as otherwise providég law, a civil action arising
under an Act of Congress emed after the date of the
enactment of this section magt be commenced later than 4
years after the cause of action accrues.

28 U.S.C. § 1658(a). Thdefault limitations period appbeonly to claims arising undel
statutes enacted after December 1, 19Rhes 541 U.S. at 380.

In 2002, Congress added a subsection to the staBgeSarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002, Pub. L. No. 10204, § 804(a), 116 Statf45, 801. Theubsection establishes §

stricter limitations period for federal securities fraud claims:

(b) Notwithstanding subsection)(aa private right of action
that involves a claim of frad, deceit, manipulation, or
contrivance in contraventiomf a regulatory requirement
concerning the securities laws, @asfined in section 3(a)(47)
of the Securities Exchangéct of 1934 (15 U.S.C.
78c(a)(47)), may be broughttiater than the earlier of—

(1) 2 years after the discovenf the facts constituting the
violation; or

(2) 5 years after such violation.

28 U.S.C. § 1658(h).

of

for
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Il. FACTUAL ALLEGATION S ASSUMED TRUE

The following allegations are presumed taighis stage. Despain began working

for BNSF Railway in 1978 (Doc. 1 at § 7.) On March 28010, he suffeéan injury on
the job, which he promptlyeported to BNSF Railway.Id. at {1 8-11.) On April 13,
2010, BNSF Railway issued Bgain a disciplinary lettecharging him with being
dishonest about his injuryld( at § 12.)

On April 23 or May 20, 2010, Despainied a complaint with the Secretary of

Labor against BNSF Railway, alleging rettiba in violation of the Federal Railroac
Safety Act. CompareDoc. 1 at § 16vith Doc. 1 at 7.) Thdollowing month, BNSF
Railway terminated Despain.|d( at 1 13.) BNSF Railway later reinstated him b
continued to treat him unfavorablyld(at {9 14-15.)

The Secretary then made investigation. I¢. at 1 17.) Despain cooperated full
and in good faith. 1d.) On July 17, 2015, the Setary found reasonable cause

believe BNSF Railway violated the Acth@ issued a preliminary order awarding

$172,994.88 in lost wages, $57,948.46 dompensatory damages, and $50,000
punitive damages, plus intsteand attorney’s feesld( at 7-13.) Five days later, BNSH
Railway objected to the prelimary order and requested am®/o hearing on the recorc
before an ALJ. (Doc. 15-1 at 4-5.)

On November 13, 2015, before the ALacbked a decision, Despain filed a Noti¢e

of Intent to file an origial action in federal districtourt pursuant to 49 U.S.C
§ 20109(d)(3). (Doc. 1 at £18.) On December 1@015, Despain filed this action

(Doc. 1.) On December 18025, the ALJ found # Secretary’s delay in issuing a fina

decision was not due to bad faith on Despapag and he had “not waived his right t
remove the case to federal district court(Doc. 15-1 at 7.) The ALJ also found
Despain’s complaint ithis Court is “based on the saffiaets that constituted his action
before the ALJ and he therefore dismistne administrative action for lack o

jurisdiction. (d. at 7-8.)
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BNSF Railway now moves to dismiss Dasps action in this Court as time;
barred under the four-year catch-all statutknoitations, 28 U.S.C. § 1658(a). (Doc. 9.)

Ill.  THE FOUR-YEAR CATCH-ALL LIMITATI ON, 28 U.S.C. § 1658, DOES
NOT APPLY TO ACTIONS IN DISTRICT COURT UNDER THE
FEDERAL RAILROAD SAFETY ACT S KICK-OUT PROVISION, 49
U.S.C. § 20109(d)(3).

Despain filed his complaint with the Setary of Labor pursuant to 49 U.S.Q.

§ 20109(d)(1). As noted, the catch-all stayut8 U.S.C. § 1658(a), applies only in th
absence of other limitations periods (“[e]xceyst otherwise provided by law”). As als
noted, actions before the Secretary unded42C. § 20109(d)(1) argoverned by a 180+
day statute of limitations. 49.S.C. § 20109(d)(2)(ii). Thus, the catch-all limitations
period does not apply to those actionBNSF Railway does not contend otherwis
Despain timely filed his complaintith the Secretary within 180 days.

BNSF Railway argues that, though ti8&80-day limitation was satisfied fof
Despain’s complaint to thé&ecretary under 8§ 20109(d)(1), the four-year catch
limitations of 28 U.S.C. § 16%8) independently limits Dxpain’s original action in
district court under the Act’s kick-out provisio§,20109(d)(3). On it view, this action
was permitted after the administrative antiwas pending 21@ays but was then
prohibited four years lateeyven though the administiee action was still pending.

This argument fails for several reasons.e Blation in districtourt “[w]ith respect

to a complaint undgparagraph (1) [before the Secretaig]essentially a continuation of

the action before the Secretary and theeef@quires no additional limitations period.

Indeed, adding a limitationgeriod would serve no purposed would in fact defeat
Congress’s specific purpose ialowing employees to dnsfer stagnant retaliation
proceedings from the agento district court. Even ithe court action is separate fror
the agency action, the catch-all limitatisould not apply because the court action

available as long as, and only as longlas,agency fails to reach a final decision.

e
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A. A district court action under the kick-out provision is essentially a
continuation of the pending agency action ad therefore governed by
the already-satisfied 180-day limitations period.

An action in district court under thBederal Railroad Safety Act's kick-oug
provision is dependermin, and replaces, a timely commaeed action befe the Secretary.

The “original action” authorizetdy the provision is1ot a review of final agency action;

14

rather, it requires the districbart to step into the place t¢iie agency to continue the
pending “de novo review” of thvery same “compiat” that the empyee brought to the
agency. 49 U.S.C. 8§ 209(d)(3). Because the actionsisbstantively the same whether
in the agency or in courtpnly one limitations period applies: the 180-day peripd
governing the employee’s initial filg, 49 U.S.C. § 20109(d)(2)(ii).

Treating the court action as a continaatiof the agency action makes sense for
limitations purposes. Statute§limitations are “primarily dsigned to assure fairness tp
defendants. Such statutes ‘promote justic@dgyenting surprisehirough the revival of
claims that have been allod/¢o slumber until evidence hasdn lost . . . Moreover,
the courts ought to be relievef the burden of trying stale claims when a plaintiff has
slept on his rights."Burnett v. New York Cent. R. C880 U.S. 424, 42(1965) (quoting
Order of R.R. Telegraphe v. Ry. Express Agenc®21l U.S. 342, 348-49 (1944)).
Despain’s claims in this cot did not “surprie” BNSF Railway becae the parties had
been litigating these claims thite agency level for yeardNor did Despairisleep on his
rights” during that time. Any loss of Elence would lie entirgl at the feet of the
Secretary. Thus, imposing a separate linotegiperiod on Despam'court action would
not advance traditiondimitations policies.

In fact, a separate limitation here would only defeat the parpbshe Federal

13%

Railroad Safety Act’'skick-out provision. Congresslecided, in a comprehensiv
statutory scheme, to allow reassignment ofev@ of employees’ clans in the event of

agency delay. It is nonsensicalitder, from a different statute, thatore agency delay
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somehow defeats the reassignment. Thatavballike a court dismesing a timely claim
on the ground that the courtetfailed to grant relief witim some arbitrargime limit.

BNSF Railway argues that, because theridistourt proceeding is an “origina

action,” it needs a statute of limitations addition to that of the administrative

proceeding which it replaces. This argumsmsses the forest fahe trees. Although
statutory analysis oftebegins with the common meanin§words in isolation, words
ultimately derive meaning fromoatext. Here, context is esdm@l. Under the kick-out
provision, Despain seeks an “original actioriaat or equity for de novo review” of an
agency’s preliminary ordenn place of pendindghigher agency rewe. 49 U.S.C.
§ 20109(d)(3). The provisiondefining first phrase is thdhe original action is “[wl]ith
respect to a complaint undparagraph (1) [a complaint fdewith the ®cretary].” The
ALJ aptly described the prows as conferring a “right teemove the case to feders
district court.” (Doc. 15t at 7.) Thus, Congressfgirpose and intended remedy a
clear. It should not matter whether Congress usedeime tremoval” or “original

action.” BNSF Railway’s out-of-context reading of a few words would significar
defeat that remedy’s reach. It is erroneous.

B. Even if a district court action under the kick-out provision is separate
from the pending agency ation, the catch-all limitations period would

not apply.
Suppose BNSF Railway is correct that thederal Railroad Safety Act’s kick-oU

provision authorizes an aecti meaningfully distinct fnm the agencyproceeding it
replaces. Such actions still would not be gyoed by the federal cdt@ll limitation, for
two related reasons.

First, actions under the kick-out provisido not need a limations period becauss
they are available as long tee conduct that occasms them continues. The provisio
authorizes employees to trégstheir complaint to districtourt in the event of agency
delay. Under this authorization, the action @@nbrought as longs the targeted harm

persists, that is, as long as the agencyydel& hus, the action pkes only with passage

-10 -
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of the harm, not with passagetohe. This is analogous the equitable doctrine that, in
some contexts, a statute of limitations doex run against a @m as long as the

actionable harm continuesSeeHavens Realty Corp. v. Colematb5 U.S. 363, 380-81

(1982) (finding Fair Housing Act claintimely where alleged unlawful practice

“continue[d] into thelimitations period”);see generall)Kyle Graham,The Continuing
Violations Doctring 43 Gonz. L. Rev. 271 (2008) (explaining formulation

justifications, and applications of the doctrine).

Second, to the extent that actions emthe kick-out provision need a separate

limitations period, the provision itself provisle natural time limit. Such actions ar

timely only as long aghe Secretary “has hassued a final decision.” 49 U.S.G.

§ 20109(d)(3). Once the Seast reaches a final decisiothe employee’s right to de
novo review in district coarexpires. This literal timdémit tracks ratler than defeats
Congress’s remedy for delayed agency procgsd The remedyrels when the need
ends and not before.

Thus, no matter how ondices it, the Federal Radad Safety Act’'s kick-out
provision leaves no limitations gap for ethcatch-all limitations period to fill.
Accordingly, the catch-all statte has no apjglation here.

C. No case authority applies the 28 &.C. § 1658 catch-all limitation to
oust a district court actionunder 49 U.S.C. § 20109(d)(3).

BNSF Railway relies on three cadessupport its theorthat the catch-all statuteg
of limitations applies to actions underetiFederal Railroad Safety Act's kick-ou
provision. The first iSGunderson v. BNSF Ry. C&®9 F. Supp. 3d 1259 (D. Minn
2014), in which the court noted a footnote that the statutenay apply” to such actions.
Id. at 1264 n.6. Consistentittv that tentative observatioit, turns out that the statute
does not apply.

The second islones v. Southpeak Intetave Corp. of Delaware777 F.3d 658
(4th Cir. 2015). There, Josalleged retaliation in violatn of the Sarbaes-Oxley Act,

-11 -
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which contains an enforcement procedure lanki-out provision very similar to the one

at issue here. It requires an employee td files a complaint witithe Secretary of Labor

[92)

and then allows an “action” for “de novo rew” in district court if the Secretary doe

A

not reach a final decision withanstated time (there, 180 dagsid the delay is not due t¢
the employee’s bad faith. 18 U.S.C. &14A(b)(1)(A), (B). Jones filed a timely,
complaint with the Secretagnd nearly three years latevhile still waiting for a final
decision, brought an action in district coiot de novo review.777 F.3d at 663—64.

BNSF Railway characterize3onesas “holding” that the catch-all statute qf
limitations, 28 U.S.C. 8§ 165&pplies to the Sarbanes-Oxleyalogue to the Federal
Railroad Safety Act’s kick-out provision. @hmischaracterizes the case, which has bpth
a holding and dicta concernirfgl658. The litigated question was which subsection of
the statute fit Jones’s specific claim: theifyear general limitation in § 1658(a) or the
two-year securities fraud limitation in 1%58(b)(1). Because the employee filed |n
district court after two years but under fouars, to win under 8 1658 the employer had
to shoehorn that claim intosecurities fraud claim. The @d’s precise holding was tha
the shoe did not fit. It was not a securitiegid claim, so § 16%8)(1) could not bar the
claim even if 8 1658 in general govern8drbanes-Oxley Act retaliation claims. The
employee defeated timeotion the easy way.

Indeed, the parties framed the questias whether § 1658(b)(1) applieSee
Appellants’ Opening Br., 24 WL 1511197, at*2 (presentingquestion whether
plaintiff's claims “involve a claim of fraudand [are] therefore sudgt to the two-year
statute of limitations of 28 U.G. § 1658(b)(1)"); Appellee B, 2014 WL 215956, at *5
(presenting question whetheh#& four-year statute of limitations set forth at 28 U.S|C.
8§ 1658(a) or the two-year statute of linibas set forth at 28 U.S.C. § 1658(b)(1)

applies).
The court treated the quem as the parties posatdl whether the four-year
limitation of § 1658(a) or théwo-year limitation of 8 165&((1) applied, not whether

-12 -
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8§ 1658 applied at all. The court began:éWrst consider [the employer’s] contentio
that the statute of limitations bars theitias.” 777 F.3d at 666.The court explained
why 8§ 1658(b)(1) did not applyld. at 666—68. The court'statement that 8 1658(a
controls, if it means anything beyond a dosmn that that employee’s claim was not|a
securities fraud claim within the description ®f658(b)(1), is dictm on two levels.
First, the facts of that case required no shehling because that case was undisputedly
timely even under 28 U.S.C. 8§ 1658(a)Second, the parties apparently agreed
(mistakenly) that 8 1658 in general appliand never argued that the express tifne
limitation in the Sarbanes-Oxleéyct oust § 1658 limitationsA stipulation of the parties
in one case is not arding precedent against other litigann other cases. Finally, if
somehowJonesdid hold that § 1658 ousts clainizat are timely under the Sarbanep-
Oxley Act itself, it lacks ess#ial analysis and is there®runpersuasive. No one can
fault theJonescourt for its summary comment on a pdim¢ parties had stipulated away.
The question does matter indltase and is sharply contested. We decide it afresh.

The third case on whicBNSF Railway relies i€llis v. CommScope, Inc. of N.
Carolina, No. 3:07-CV-1938-G2008 WL 4191484N.D. Tex. Sept. 11, 2008). That
case also dealt with an amti under the Sarbanes-Oxlagt's kick-out provision. Id. at
*4. But that case is unhelpful. The cbtihere summarily apied 8§ 1658(b) in the
course of deciding a different questiomd. The court offered no analysis as to why
8 1658(b) applied, much less any analysis ashy the broader statute, 8§ 1658, applied.
Id.

A more illuminating case idordan v. Sprint Nextel Corp3 F. Supp. 3d 917 (D.
Kan. 2014). There, as onesandEllis, the employee filed a Sarbanes-Oxley retaliatipn
complaint with the Secretanf Labor under 18 U.S.C. $14A(b)(1)(A) and years later
brought an action for de novo review fiederal court under 8 1514A(b)(1)(B)d. at
923-24. The court helthat no part of the catch-aditatute of limitations—neither
8§ 1658(a) nor § 1658(b)—governed the timedis of the employee’s action in federal

-13 -
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court. Id. at 925-28. The court reasoned tha tatch-all statute applies “except 3
otherwise provided by lawjd. at 928 (quoting 2&.S.C. § 1658(a))and the Sarbanes;
Oxley Act already provides a specific limitatis period in which retaliation claims mug
be filed with the Secretaryd. (referring to 18 U.S.C. 85114A(b)(2)(D)). That analysis
is more persuasive here.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED that Bendant BNSF Railway’s Motion to
Dismiss (Doc. 9) is denied.

Dated this 13th day of May, 2016.

Ao S VW e

7 NeilV. Wake
United States District Jge
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